IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

JUN 7 1988 CLERK, SHPAEME COUNT

v.

CASE NO. 72,503 Deputy Clark

WEBSTER F. MCKINNON,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT L. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

EDWARD C. HILL, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #238041

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the lower tribunal. Appendix A is the opinion of the lower tribunal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Webster F. McKinnon, owner of the "Red Carpet Lounge," was charged with second degree murder and display or use of a firearm during the commission of a felony as a result of the shooting death of a patron of the lounge. The jury found him guilty of manslaughter, a lesser included offense of second degree murder, and of display or use of a weapon during the commission of a felony. (Opinion of First District Court of Appeal, p. 3).

On appeal the First District Court of Appeal affirmed the manslaughter conviction but reversed the firearm conviction. A motion for rehearing was denied and this Petition followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

The First District Court of Appeal ruled that when you are charged with homicide and use of a firearm, the firearm becomes an element of the offense. This directly conflicts with opinions of this Court that have held that when analyzing multiple punishment issues the phrase "elements of the offense" means the statutory elements only.

ISSUE II

The First District Court of Appeal improperly applied the Carawan analysis by reversing the Blockburger test, applying the rule of lenity without conducting a complete analysis of the offenses, of the evils prohibited, or of the intent of the legislature. Thus, its holding directly conflicts with Carawan itself.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE OPINION OF THE LOWER TRIBUNAL IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH OPINIONS OF THIS COURT ON THE ISSUES OF:

- I. WHETHER THE USE OF A FIREARM IS AN ELEMENT OF HOMICIDE WHEN THE PENALTY IS ENHANCED BY THE USE OF §775.087(1);
- II. WHETHER MULTIPLE PUNISHMENTS CAN BE IMPOSED FOR THE COMMISSION OF A HOMICIDE AND USE OF A FIREARM IN THE COMMISSION OF THAT HOMICIDE.

I.

In its opinion, the First District Court of Appeal reasoned that use of the reclassification or enhancement of penalty statute §775.087, Florida Statutes, added an additional element to the offense of manslaughter. The court then reasoned that because use of a firearm was now an element of manslaughter; the conviction could not stand because Carawan v. State 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), prohibited multiple punishments for offenses containing the same element and which address the same evil.

The reasoning used by the First District Court of Appeal that the enhancement statute adds an element to the offense directly conflicts with <u>Strickland v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1983) and <u>Whitehead v. State</u>, 472 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1985), which held that the use of a weapon was not an essential element of a homicide. This reasoning also conflicts with State v. Baker, 456

So.2d 419 (Fla. 1984), in which this Court again held that for multiple punishment analysis you look to the statutory element of the offenses, not the pleading nor the proof adduced at trial in determining if the offenses are the same.

In <u>Baker</u> this Court approved convictions for murder and for use of a firearm in the commission of a crime. This Court in <u>Carawan</u>, <u>supra</u>, approved <u>Baker</u>, citing that these statutes involve two separate evils, one being killing, the other being use of a firearm in the commission of a crime.

Therefore, contrary to the First District Court of Appeal ruling in the instant case, there are separate evils addressed by these statutes and the offense of manslaughter is not changed by Section 775.087, Florida Statutes.

II.

Because of this faulty analysis, the First District Court of Appeal's application of <u>Carawan</u> to these facts is deficient and its opinion directly conflicts with <u>Carawan</u> itself.

The previously cited cases establish that these offenses are separate. Thus, the proper <u>Carawan</u> analysis is

. . .if each offense indeed requires proof of a fact that the other does not, the court then must find that the offenses in question are spearate, and multiple punishments are presumed to be

authorized in the absence of a contrary legislative intent or an reasonable basis for concluding that a contrary intent existed. Carawan, supra at 168.

Thus, in this situation, multiple penalties are presumed to be authorized by Carawan.

The First District Court of Appeal misapplied <u>Carawan</u> by reversing the <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 294 U.S. 299, 76 L.Ed 306 (1932), doctrine codified in Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes. <u>Blockburger's</u> analysis holds that offenses are <u>separate</u> if one offense requires proof of an element the other does not. The First District Court of Appeal's analysis found one element in common and somehow determined the offenses to be the same. This is not the holding of Carawan.

Further, the First District Court of Appeal improperly applied the rule of lenity when it invoked the rule of lenity without an analysis of the legislative intent behind these offenses. In <u>Carawan</u>, this Court stated the rule for the application of the rule of lenity when it said

. . . where there is a basis for concluding that the legislature intended a result contrary to that achieved by the Blockburger test, a conflict arises that requires resort to the third rule of construction applicable to this problem, the rule of lenity. (Emphasis supplied). Carawan, supra at 168.

The First District Court of Appeal applied the rule of lenity without finding any basis upon which the legislature intended a result contrary to <u>Blockburger</u>. This was improper.

Therefore, as the First District Court of Appeal ruling that:

- (1) the use of a firearm became an element of manslaughter;
- (2) the offenses of manslaughter and use of a firearm are intended to prevent the same evil; and
- (3) the rule of lenity is automatically applied whenever offenses contain a single identical element and address the same evil; (reverse <u>Blockburger</u> analysis)

directly and expressly conflicts with rulings of this Court and this Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict.

As of the day the brief is being written the Florida Legislature has passed an amendment to Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes, which overrules Carawan, supra, and Hall v. State, 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988). Therefore, Baker, supra, and State v. Gibson, 452 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1984) control and the basis upon which the First District Court of Appeal ordered supplemental briefs in this case is no longer good law.

CONCLUSION

The State of Florida respectfully urges this Honorable Court to accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflicts.