IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



JUN 16 1988

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

Vs.

CASE NO. 72,503

WEBSTER F. McKINNON,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

David P. Gauldin Special Assistant Public Defender-Fl. Bar #261580 Post Office Box 142 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 222-5774

Attorney for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Webster McKinnon was the Defendant in the trial court, the Appellant in the Florida First District Court of Appeal and the Respondent in this Court. He will be referred to as "the Defendant."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The statement of the case and facts as found in the District Court of Appeal's opinion is accepted.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Defendant does believe that this Court has jurisdiction but for a different reason than the State. The Defendant believes that the Florida First District Court of Appeal's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with Blackwelder v. State, 476 So.2d 280 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985).

ISSUE (Restated)

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURIS-DICTION TO STRAIGHTEN OUT THE MESS CREATED BELOW AND TO GIVE THE DEFENDANT A FAIR SHAKE.

The Defendant does believe this Court has jurisdiction to hear this issue but on a different basis than the State has proposed, and as such, in order to preserve his rights, has filed a notice to invoke ceritiorari jurisdiction simultaneously with the filing of this brief (but there is no need for additional briefs, as defendant is filing this brief in answer to the State's jurisdictional brief).

In order for this Court to understand the basis by which it may exercise jurisdiction, the following is submitted:

The Defendant was convicted of manslaughter, a second degree felony. In the course of sentencing the Defendant, the Court treated his conviction for "simple" manslaughter (as opposed to manslaughter with a firearm) as the primary offense and enhanced this second degree felony to a first degree felony because he was also convicted of the use or display of a firearm in violation of Section 790.07(1), Florida Statutes. (See Appellate Court Record at 15 and the DCA's opinion). The judgment, however, continued to list the primary offense as a second degree felony (which, as pointed out below, it is). (R-17 & DCA opinion).

As noted by the DCA opinion, trial counsel objected to this sentencing but was overruled by the trial court on the basis that Defendant's conviction for use or display of a firearm during the course of a felony constituted a conclusion

by the jury that the Defendant committed manslaughter with a firearm.

The First District Court of Appeal, in its opinion, then concluded that the trial court was correct in increasing the Defendant's conviction for manslaughter from a second degree felony to a first degree felony but that the judgment should be made to conform to the sentencing of the Defendant for a first degree felony.

Starting with this premise as correct (which is where the First District Court of Appeal went wrong), the DCA then realized it had a problem: to punish appellant twice for the same activity (display of a firearm) would violate this Court's opinions (Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987) and Hall v. State, 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988)). Its solution was to strike the Defendant's conviction for use or display of a firearm during the course of a felony (which, even though stricken, was used to enhance the manslaughter charge).

The First District Court of Appeal correctly characterized the Defendant's position:

The assistant public defender, asserting in his supplemental brief that he has rethought his original position "until his head hurt," argues that section 775.087(1) (b) does not permit the trial court to reclassify the manslaughter offense, because conviction on one count in an information may not be used to enhance the punishment for conviction on another count. In other words, [Defendant's] counsel contends that [Defendant] may be convicted on both counts, but that the manslaughter offense may not be reclassified to a first degree felony. [Opinion at 3].

Counsel for the Defendant has taken this position because (insofar as sentencing is concerned) the Defendant is better off being sentenced for conviction of a second degree and a

third degree felony than being sentenced ("just") for a first degree felony and because it is the law.

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION DIRECTLY
AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICTS WITH <u>Blackwelder v. State</u>, 476 So.2d
280-281 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985). ["The allegation used in the
robbery count that [the defendant] used a weapon cannot be used
to supplement the count for attempted first degree murder."]
In other words, conviction in one count may NOT be used to
enhance the conviction in another count. This should be
the basis of the Court's jurisdiction in this case.

The Defendant disagrees with the State's analysis in its jurisdictional brief and does not for one minute believe that Blockburger v. United States, 294 U.S. 299, __S.Ct.___, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932) or any other case allows multiple punishments for the same act.* Moreover, whatever the Florida Legislature has done after the Defendant was sentenced cannot be used in an ex post facto manner against the Defendant, even assuming that whatever amendment it has passed is constitutional.

As the undersigned reads <u>Hall</u>, it prohibits multiple punishments for the same <u>act</u> (but not the same <u>transaction</u>).

The same "act" involved in this case is the use of the firearm.

No better proof of this conclusion is the fact that <u>Hall</u> overruled <u>State v. Gibson</u>, 452 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1984), where the defendant was punished for both armed robbery <u>with a firearm</u> and <u>use of a firearm</u> during the course of <u>that</u> robbery. Clearly, the act multiply punished in <u>Gibson</u> was the use of a firearm, so <u>Hall</u> (given this Court's reasoning) explicitly overruled Gibson.

^{*}Under the circumstances here.

Here, two separate crimes were committed: 1) manslaughter and 2) use or display of a firearm during the course of a felony. The State can punish the Defendant for manslaughter (one time) and for use of a firearm used in the manslaughter (one time) but cannot enhance his punishment for manslaughter because he used a firearm and then (again) punish the Defendant for use or display of a firearm during the course of the manslaughter as the draconian State would have this Court believe.

The Defendant was convicted of manslaughter, a second degree felony. He should be punished for a second degree felony. He was convicted of display or use of a firearm during the course of a felony, a separate crime which is a third degree felony. He should be punished for a third degree felony. If the State wanted the Defendant convicted of a first degree felony the verdict form should have read: _____ Guilty _____ Not Guilty Manslaughter with a firearm.

Clearly, the Defendant should <u>not</u> be sentenced for use or display of a firearm during the course of a felony and then be sentenced for a first degree felony for the <u>same act</u> in a different count. [Even the First District Court of Appeal realized that was wrong].

CONCLUSION

This Court should accept jurisdiction for conflict based on <u>Blackwelder v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 280 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) and correct the Defendant's sentence as requested in this brief and the supplemental brief filed on his behalf below. It should reject jurisdiction based on the State's reasoning.